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Preface


Ever since Guy Burgess and Donald Maclean fled to the Soviet Union in 1951, there has been a plethora of books on the Cambridge Spies, each one attempting to fill in another part of the jigsaw, to try and understand how not just these two men but others – names gradually revealed over the years – were drawn, in spite of their privileged backgrounds and Establishment positions, to spy for a country whose values were so different from their own.


Of the members of the Cambridge Ring, Burgess has exerted perhaps the greatest fascination, not least because no one has known how seriously to take him. Reviewing A Chapter of Accidents, the memoir of Guy Burgess by his friend Goronwy Rees, the novelist Isabel Quigley felt him to be:


A fictional-sounding character, Burgess: attractive, brilliant, amusing, outrageous, living in a dream world and enacting his own fantasies there; also a drunkard, smelly, grubby, exhausting, munching garlic or barbiturates as if they were humbugs, and sexually so promiscuous and so voracious that he sounds like some strip-cartoon character, a traitor to his country yet, in his devious subterranean way, true to principles it must have been hard to discern under Stalinism. A modern tragic hero or just a contemporary clown?1


Goronwy Rees himself admitted: ‘I am very far from thinking my story tells the whole truth about him; it would be impossible for any one person to give anything except a very partial and incomplete account of a character so complex and so contradictory and with such a passion for devious and obscure ways.’2


Burgess is certainly the most complex and enigmatic of the Cambridge Spies, a man of enormous contradictions and complexities. Regarded as louche, unreliable and often unemployable, he nevertheless managed to penetrate such bastions of the Establishment as the BBC, the Foreign Office and MI6, to earn the respect of Winston Churchill, Neville Chamberlain and Anthony Eden, and to use his position to pass on crucial secrets over a period of fifteen years. For every person who was repelled by his scruffiness and selfishness, there was another who was enchanted by his charm, intelligence and kindness.


Yet while there have been several full biographies of the other members of the Cambridge Spy Ring – Kim Philby, Donald Maclean and Anthony Blunt – there has been little specifically on Burgess. The gap in the literature is understandable. Burgess died some twenty-five years before his fellow spies, few in the West had any contact with him after 1951 and little of his correspondence has survived. He has, therefore, hitherto been a mystery, the joker in the pack of the Cambridge Spy Ring.


Drawing on over twenty years of research in archives around the world, interviews with over a hundred people who knew Burgess – most of whom had never spoken before and are now dead – and secret files released under Freedom of Information requests on both sides of the Atlantic, this book presents a completely new picture of Guy Burgess the idealist, the spy, the traitor and the man, arguing he was the most important of the Cambridge Spies.


It charts the story of the rich, well-connected and brilliant Cambridge student from his childhood in Hampshire to his tragic-comic exile in Moscow. It covers his excessive drinking, outrageous behaviour, promiscuous private life, as well as his friendships with, amongst others, John Maynard Keynes, Cyril Connolly, Isaiah Berlin, W.H. Auden, E.M. Forster, Dylan Thomas, Stephen Spender, Christopher Isherwood, Lucian Freud, George Orwell, Michael Redgrave and Frederick Ashton. An Englishman at heart, and in some ways (mostly sentimental ones) a patriot, he is now remembered simply as a spy and a traitor to his country.


Many questions intrigue about Guy Burgess. Why did a man from the very heart of the British Establishment seek to betray it by becoming a Soviet agent? How was he recruited and run? Why was he not discovered until after his flight in 1951? What information did he provide? How far did he change the course of twentieth-century history? Are there still further spies to be revealed? The answers to these questions and many more can be found in this book.




Prologue:



Full Circle: Saturday, 5 October 1963



In the descending gloom of an autumn evening, a small funeral party has gathered in the graveyard of the church of St John the Evangelist, a Gothic edifice faced with knapped, squared flints and roofed in blue slate, which stands in the Hampshire village of West Meon. It is a pleasant, sleepy, ancient spot, where a succession of churches have stood since the twelfth century.


Around the funeral party stand lichened gravestones dating back more than four centuries. The buried include William Cobbett, the radical pamphleteer, and Thomas Lord, the cricketer and founder of the cricket ground in St John’s Wood that bears his name. To the north of the church and about three-quarters of the way up a shallow embankment is a low grave with a cross, and it is here in the evening darkness that the funeral party stand.


There are just five of them. The Reverend John Hurst has been vicar here since 1950. Beside him is a slim man of fifty wearing spectacles, and with him, his wife and his son who is in his early twenties. There are three wreaths – the largest reads, ‘For my darling, dearest boy with all my love, from Mum’. The elderly mother is too ill to attend. Another is from the man’s brother, Nigel, who is at the graveside, and the third is from a group of friends. It is a simple service with no music, hymns or sermon.1


They have gathered in darkness to bury quietly the ashes of a son of West Meon – a man as English as this place in which he spent his childhood, a man proud and fond of his country, yet a man who was also a traitor, a man so unwelcome here that even in death his remains must be interred in secret.


‘There was such strong feeling aroused,’ the Reverend John Hurst would recall many years later, ‘that I thought some reporter might have followed Nigel down to West Meon when he brought the ashes, so I did not dig the hole for the casket till ten minutes before he was due to arrive.’ As he places the small casket into the hastily prepared hole, the vicar experiences an awkward moment: it isn’t quite deep enough for the ornate vessel. ‘There was a plaster spike on top, of which the tip was just level with the grass, so I broke off the tip and put it in my pocket.’2


The dead man’s ashes are placed in the family plot besides those of his father, who had died almost forty years earlier. On the front of the cross is inscribed: Malcolm Kingsford de Moncy Burgess died 1924. To it would now be added: Guy Francis de Moncy Burgess d. 30 August 1963.


Guy Burgess had finally had his wish and returned home.
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Beginnings


Guy Burgess’s roots were in Kent, but the family were originally Huguenot. This ancestry was to be important to him and he was to equate the flight of his Huguenot forebears to Britain for conscience’s sake in the seventeenth century to his own journey to Moscow some three centuries later.1


Abraham de Bourgeois de Chouilly, with a minor title and connections at court, had arrived in Canterbury in 1592, aged thirty-five, to escape religious persecution in France. The family quickly assimilated themselves into Kent life, where, during the Napoleonic wars, the family prospered as bankers in Ramsgate and Margate.2


More immediately, Guy Burgess came from a family with a strong tradition of military service. His paternal grandfather Henry Miles Burgess had joined the Royal Artillery aged fifteen in 1854 and spent much of his career abroad.3 In August 1865 he had married Amelia Kingsford, the daughter of a rich merchant who had settled in Lewisham, and they had five children, of whom the youngest, Burgess’s father, Malcolm Kingsford de Moncy, was born on 13 August 1881 in Aden.


Little is known of Malcolm’s early life – the 1891 census has him at St Mary Bredin, near Canterbury in Kent – but his career path was clear: he was destined for the navy. In January 1896, at the age of fourteen, he joined the HMS Britannia training ship, then moored on the River Dart near Dartmouth. Here he undertook a mixture of naval training and school work, ranging from navigation to French, but his school career was undistinguished with reports describing him as ‘inclined to be lazy but improving’.4


In January 1898 Malcolm entered Dartmouth as a midshipman third class, at a time when the Royal Navy boasted three hundred and fifty ships and almost a hundred thousand sailors and the British navy was larger than the navies of France, Russia, Germany or the United States. It was also a prestigious career, as the navy enjoyed close links with the royal family – the future King George V had been at Dartmouth fifteen years earlier.5


Malcolm’s progress was solid, but not inspiring. He was just a junior officer on a large ship, which made it difficult to stand out. His position was not helped by the fact that he lacked social cachet in a fashionable service with a number of aristocratic officers and that a court of enquiry in 1902 had found him responsible for a collision between his own vessel Thrasher, and another, Panther. Though the court only admonished him ‘in view of his inexperience’, his career was never to recover. His captain’s damning comment on his service record read: ‘This officer’s deficiencies in seamanship render him unfit for service in destroyers.’6


Then in March 1904 a court martial found him in neglect of duty when the flotilla signal book was lost from the battleship Prince George while the Channel Fleet was in Vigo.7 The navy were prepared to give him another chance ‘in any other class of vessel’ and Malcolm thereafter served on a succession of battleships and cruisers where his reports began to improve. They were still not, however, the reports for a future senior officer and in 1907 he returned for shore training with the reserve – the kiss of death to a naval career – in Devonport.


It was in Portsmouth that the twenty-six-year-old naval officer married Evelyn Gillman in December that year. Four years younger than her husband, Evelyn was the daughter of William Gillman, a partner in a small family bank, Grant, Gillman & Long, based in Portsmouth and Southsea, which had been sold to Lloyd’s in 1903 and had left William a rich man of leisure.


W.G. Gillman, named after the cricketer W.G. Grace, had himself already married money. His wife, Maud Hooper, whom he had met while travelling in North America, was an heiress from Scottish pioneer stock and came from a prominent Canadian family. A freemason, a senior magistrate, and a director of both the Portsmouth Gas and Water Companies, Gillman was a man of some standing in Hampshire. Evelyn, the youngest of his three children, had been brought up in a large home with servants at Rutland House, on the north side of Southsea Common looking out to sea, before being sent to boarding school in Hendon.


Malcolm and Evelyn Burgess’s first married home was 2 Albemarle Villas, one of a series of detached three-bay, stucco, two-storey houses, with wrought-iron balconies looking out over Stonehouse Creek in Devonport, built in about 1825 to accommodate retired sea captains. It was there that their first son Guy Francis de Moncy Burgess was born on 16 April 1911, to be followed two years later by another son, Nigel.


Malcolm was often away from home – some three-quarters of his career was spent either at sea or in a foreign naval outpost – so it was very much a female household with a housemaid, Bertha Oliver; a cook, Alice Poole; and a maid, Emily Harte – all under thirty. It meant that from an early age the young Guy Burgess began to develop a very close relationship with his mother and it was one without a balancing masculine influence.


Just after his thirtieth birthday in September 1911, Malcolm was promoted to lieutenant commander and at the beginning of 1914 he took command of the torpedo gunboat Hebe, which had been converted to a submarine depot ship, based on the Tyne – not the most glamorous of commands. It was on Hebe that he was to spend the first part of the First World War – in port, rather than at sea – servicing the submarines hunting German U-boats in the North Sea.8


In June 1916 Malcolm was promoted to commander and given command of the 6th Submarine Flotilla, based in Harwich, a post he held until the end of the war. The remarks on his naval record from his superiors are generally good – ‘Very zealous and able and has been of the greatest assistance … a capable executive officer & good organiser’ – but it had been a modest war.9


With the cessation of hostilities in Europe, Malcolm was made second-in-command of HMS Hannibal, a depot ship for auxiliary patrol craft at Alexandria, supporting forces operating from Egypt and those in the Red Sea, but this was not a prized seagoing command. Subsequently he was appointed to serve on the staff of the Rear-Admiral in Egypt, as the maintenance commander, living in Ismailia, Malta and Egypt until the summer of 1920. Guy Burgess would later claim that as a small boy of eight he had lived in a villa at Ismailia, the main station on the Suez Canal, in the European quarter on the east side of town.10


Malcolm’s next posting was a few months on HMS Benbow as the commander dealing with supply and administration, which included maintaining discipline and dress. His commanding officer was to write:


The appearance of the ship has been very creditable considering the reduced complement … Is of good physical and smart appearance, dances and is fond of social life. Is leaving this ship at his own request and I wish to place on record that he has continued to perform his duties satisfactorily.11


Realising, however, his chance of reaching flag rank was now impossible, at his own request in July 1922, Malcolm was placed on the reserve list. His early retirement may also have been on health grounds and possibly disillusionment with the navy. His younger son had a faint memory that his father had been in dispute with a senior officer in Malta and, though in the right, had come off on the losing side. If true, this may have unconsciously affected the attitude of his first-born to authority.12


Not needing to be near the coast, the Burgess family moved to West Meon, a pretty Hampshire village of about two hundred people and a favourite of retired naval officers. The Burgess home, West Lodge, was a large, elegant, Georgian, bow-windowed house, with a roof of blue-grey slate and faded red brickwork, and a moulded portico with pretty fanlight. It comprised a dozen well-proportioned rooms, including a study and music room, elegant hall, five bedrooms, walled kitchen garden, a groom’s cottage and yard, and eight acres of rear lawn, paddocks and woodland. The family knew everyone in the area and the children were often to be seen with their nursemaid, Olive Dearsley, spending their pocket money at Mr Tully’s general stores.


Guy Burgess’s early schooling is unknown, though it’s almost certain he was taught at home by a governess, but in September 1920, aged nine, he left home for a boarding preparatory school. This was traditional for boys of his upbringing, but perhaps a spur was his mother’s ambitions for her clever son, and his father’s wish for him to be subject to stricter discipline and have more masculine influences.


Lockers Park was a small prep school that had been founded in the early 1870s as a feeder school for Rugby, and was one of the earliest purpose-built prep schools in England. Situated on a twenty-three-acre site near Hemel Hempstead, it boasted a chapel, library, swimming pool, gym, squash court and rifle range, and was less than an hour by rail from London. It quickly became very popular, in part because of its healthy situation, and also due to its positioning on the route from London to Rugby.


At a time when even rich children often died from epidemics, it benefited from an endorsement from Queen Victoria’s Physician-in-Ordinary Sir William Jenner. ‘I have never been over a school more healthily situated or one in which the drains were more perfectly constructed’, stated a letter which was proudly printed in the school prospectus, like a Royal Warrant, for the next three decades.


The most expensive prep school in England, it had also become fashionable in aristocratic circles, with the majority of boys going on to Eton, Harrow, Winchester and Wellington.13 The school was run in a partnership by Tommy Holme and Norman Wood Smith, who had taken on the school only the year before Burgess came up. Lockers Park was a small school with just eighty boys and a strong naval tradition – one of Burgess’s contemporaries was the Hon. Peter Beatty, son of the First Sea Lord, Admiral David Beatty. Another pupil, just before the First World War, had been Prince Louis Mountbatten, son of the Second Sea Lord and great-grandson of Queen Victoria. Burgess’s father’s attainments seemed modest in comparison. The boys were split between houses, called sets – the Navy sets wore blue blazers (Beatty, Cradock and Jellicoe) and the Army sets (Haig, Roberts and Kitchener) wore red blazers. Burgess, in Kitchener, was even at this stage a ‘Red’.


Dress was flannel suits or black coats with dark grey trousers, Eton collars to be worn outside the jacket, and boaters, and the clothes list included two pairs of braces, a tweed cap, a straw hat and eighteen handkerchiefs. Fees were fifty guineas a term with music, boxing, shooting, dancing and carpentry extra. Parents were not allowed to visit within the first three weeks and could only then visit on Saturdays and the first Wednesday of every month. Nor were they allowed to send sweets, but instead were ‘to limit their generosity to occasional gifts of cake and fruit.’


It must have been a shock for a young sensitive boy. A Burgess contemporary, Peter Coats, heir to a Scottish cotton fortune, remembered:


The masters at Lockers Park were at that particular time a repellent lot … One seemed to be a downright sadist and delighted in reducing small boys of nine, who had never been away from home before, to tears. He would give one what he referred to as ‘clips over the head’, which were cruelly hard blows, his tiny eyes gleaming and flecks of froth gathering in the corners of his mouth, making one cry with fear and impotent rage.14


Brought up in a female household, and, according to his brother, with an ‘unhealthily close’ relationship with his mother, Burgess found it hard to adjust.15 A contemporary, Stanley Christopherson, remembered, ‘I just kept away from him. He wasn’t the kind of boy I wanted as a friend. He wasn’t quite right.’16


The forms were arranged partly by age and partly by ability, ranging from the top A1 through to C3 for the youngest boys. Burgess began in C1 and immediately shone academically, with a final placing of second in his class. In his second term, he was moved up into B2, this time graduating at the end of the summer as top of the class.


After two terms in A2, where he had been second in the whole school, he moved into the top form A1 in the summer of 1922. He was just eleven and was to spend the next five terms there until he left at the end of 1923, second in the class. He was a conscientious pupil, consistently awarded VG for effort. And it was not just academically that he excelled. He took up the piano, performing a solo, ‘The Spirit of Your Race’, at a school concert in November 1922, and played at half in the school’s second XI football in winter 1922 and in the first XI in winter 1923.


It was clear that Burgess, aged twelve, had outgrown Lockers Park intellectually, but he couldn’t start at Dartmouth, where his father wanted him to go, until he was thirteen and a half. A compromise was found to please his mother. He would fill in a year at Eton, so at Christmas 1923 Burgess swapped his tiny prep school of eighty pupils for over a thousand at Britain’s most famous public school.
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Schooldays


Founded in 1440, Eton is the Establishment school par excellence and one based on a cult of success. Former pupils, whilst Burgess was there, included the then Viceroy of India, the King of Siam, the Lord Chancellor, Speaker of the House of Commons, Chief Commissioner of Police, Lord Mayor of London, Director of the National Gallery, Governor of the Bank of England, Editor of The Times, Chairman of the BBC, plus over a hundred Members of Parliament.


The school that he entered in January 1924 had over a thousand boys, divided between twenty-six houses, and must have appeared daunting to a boy not yet thirteen. His own house of about forty boys, at 7 Jourdelay’s Place, was a large ivy-covered Queen Anne house and included several new boys from Lockers Park, including a young Irish boy, Dermot McGillycuddy of the Reeks, who was to become a close friend.


It was run by a mathematician, Frank Dobbs, a quiet, amusing, tall, red-faced man with a hooked nose and moustache, who was then in his late forties, and the author of a well-known arithmetic book for schools. Burgess had his own study bedroom, with a bed folded against the wall by day and pulled down by a maid just before evening prayers, a bureau, a wash stand and a Windsor chair. He rose at 6.45 a.m. and the school day began at 7.30 a.m., followed by breakfast at 8.20 a.m., and the last class was at 5 p.m., with three afternoons a week devoted to sport. As a junior boy, he was required to ‘fag’ for older boys, cleaning, cooking and running errands.


A picture of Eton only a few years earlier can be found in Cyril Connolly’s memoir of arrested development Enemies of Promise. Connolly was to write that all his contemporaries ‘were broken under the strain of beatings at night, and bullying by day; all we could hope for was to achieve peace with seniority and then become disciplinarians in our turn’.1 Burgess coped with the hierarchies of boarding-school life with a mixture of offhand bravado, charm, humour and apparent conformity, but the seeds of his rebellion against authority were already being sown.


The school was divided into classes, or divisions, through which one progressed on intellectual merit until one reached the heights of division one. Burgess began in division twenty-seven and quickly flourished academically, being awarded W.T. Webb’s edition of Lays of Ancient Rome for a first-class result in trials in April, and being runner-up for the Geoffrey Gunther Memorial Prize for art the same month. The following term he moved up to division twenty-six, where a highlight of the summer term was the visit of King George V and Queen Mary to the College Chapel. His Eton career had begun well, but then tragedy was to strike.


On the night of 15 September, he was later to recount, he was woken by anguished cries from his parents’ bedroom. When he went to investigate, he found his mother trapped by her husband, who had died of a heart attack in the course of making love, and the young boy had to separate the two bodies. Malcolm was just forty-three. It was an experience that Burgess later claimed had determined his homosexuality, but which he told to very few people; his brother Nigel had never heard such an account, nor did it figure in his KGB debriefings. In any case, Evelyn was a fit, young woman and her husband of average weight. Whatever the truth – and Burgess was a fantasist from an early age – the suddenness of Malcolm’s death, described as being caused by ‘atheroma of the aorta and valvular disease of the aortic valve’, was devastating for his family and not least for a boy of thirteen.


A week later Burgess returned to Eton, still in shock from his father’s death, but he was not to be there long. The plan had always been that he would start at Dartmouth as soon as he reached the minimum age of thirteen and a half, so just over three months after his father’s death, Burgess found himself leaving Eton, the friends he had made and a promising academic school career, to train as a naval officer.


Dartmouth Naval College stands majestically above the charming Devon town of Dartmouth, with commanding views over the River Dart. When Burgess entered in January 1925, the buildings were only twenty years old, built to replace the training ship Britannia, on which his father had been trained. Dartmouth, with its six hundred cadets, was a public school almost as prestigious as Eton – but one with a difference, in that its sole purpose was to prepare boys for a naval career and it was run like a ship. Staff under the command of Captain Dunbar-Naismith, who had won a Victoria Cross as a submariner during the Dardanelles Campaign, were responsible for the naval side and discipline, and a civilian headmaster for teaching.


In front of the main building, a long three-storeyed building with a clock tower in the middle, was a parade ground with a figurehead of Britannia, and behind it a flagstaff on which the White Ensign was raised at sunrise and lowered at sundown to the mournful sounds of a bugle. The big hall, where parades were held, was called the quarterdeck and the officers’ rooms were cabins, whilst the officers lived in wardrooms and the cadets in gunrooms. Instead of tailcoat, top hat and white bow tie, Burgess now wore a blue naval uniform or white flannel trousers, reefer, collar and tie and lanyard, plus cap in summer. ‘The cap was vital, since every time one passed an Officer or Master one had to salute,’ remembered one contemporary, William O’Brien.2


Burgess was one of just over fifty cadets joining in the St Vincent Term, and was assigned an Admiralty number 205. Each term or class, further sub-divided into Port or Starboard – Burgess was both, which is unusual – was named after an Admiral, and the cadet would remain within their class, i.e. St Vincent, throughout their eleven terms at the college.3


Each term was under the command of a naval lieutenant, assisted by two cadet captains drawn from the senior terms. The cadets spent the day in the gunroom – a big room with lockers, tables and benches – and slept in dormitories of about twenty-five, where the hard-sprung iron beds were arranged in two parallel rows also named after admirals (Burgess was in Keppel), with windows on the north and south sides. Each evening the windows had to be opened uniformly according to the weather, so with cold north-westerlies and showers in the offing, the order might be, ‘Half-open south, quarter-open north, close all fanlights.’4


A wooden sea chest at the end of his bed held the cadet’s clothes. ‘Undressing was not the simple matter of throwing off clothes and rumpling them into a drawer,’ recollected O’Brien. ‘All garments had to be folded to a regulation size and arranged to a standard pattern on the drop-flap of the chest. The cap on top, dead centre, badge exactly in the middle of the peak, shoes in line, bed squared off with the blue rug precisely folded at its foot, its owner’s embroidered initials centre.’5


Cadets were punished for the most modest of dress imperfections, constantly shouted at and forced to do everything at the double. They were trained to obey orders so eventually, once in the navy, they could give them. ‘We could find no kindness or affection: only constant chivvy, nag and menace,’ later wrote one contemporary, Charles Owen. ‘We longed for the end of every day, for the privacy of bed, for a brief escape through sleep from the shouts and threats and orders which right into our dormitories, right up to lights out, still pursued us.’6


Ambrose Lampen remembered that:


Everything was ‘regulation’, all was uniformity; every movement was carried out in strict time with everyone else, and usually ‘at the double’. We got up in the morning to the order, ‘Turn out at the double!’ and we went to bed at night to the order, ‘Say your prayers!’ We were not allowed to walk about. We ran from classroom to classroom. We ran when passing rooms allocated to our seniors. We ran to or from the mess-hall, or the playing fields. However sick we felt, we ran to the Sick Bay.7


Discipline was enforced by caning, was arbitrary, frequent, and entirely at the whim of the Term Officer or his underlings. Caning was restricted to six strokes and applied just before bedtime to pyjamas. ‘The cane caused weals which persisted for as long as six weeks,’ recollected Arthur Hazlett:


Sometimes when two strokes landed in the same place they were likely to draw blood. What was worse was that the beatings were given for very minor offences such as talking after lights out or being late for Divisions or some other function. There was also a ‘tick’ system, in which a ‘tick’ was awarded for some small oversight such as an untidy sea-chest or leaving books about. When four ‘ticks’ had been amassed, the offender was beaten. Although the usual punishment was only three or four strokes, they were given extremely hard and a beating was a very painful experience.8


For more serious offences, there was a modern version of the cat-o’-nine-tails, with the culprit’s Term drawn up on three sides of a square, and the victim being strapped to a frame in the middle and then beaten. According to Burgess, ‘he rebelled against the barbarous ceremonial of corporal punishment known as “official cuts”: he and three of his friends turned ostentatiously away in order to avoid seeing this performance, which the cadets were paraded to witness’.9


The rules were rigid. Cadets did not speak unless spoken to, ‘did not mix with another term, except for college games, and were not allowed (by custom) to speak to a senior cadet and did not speak to a junior’, another contemporary, Michael Creagh-Osborne, remembered. The cadets would rise at 6.30 a.m. and take cold plunge baths before prayers in the dormitory. After dressing there would be a fifteen-minute talk in the gunroom on seamanship and an hour of lessons, before falling in outside the gunroom and marching into breakfast in rows of four for 8 a.m. This was followed at 9 a.m. with a general parade called ‘Divisions’ followed by drill, before marching off to morning lessons.10


Every afternoon there would be games and then another parade called ‘Quarters’, tea, and prep in the gunroom before retiring to bed at 9.20 p.m. Sundays involved ‘a succession of meticulous inspections by progressively higher ranking officers’ with a march past straight into Chapel and a further service in the evening.11


Alongside normal school lessons with an emphasis on maths, physics, science and naval history, the cadets were taught seamanship, navigation, astronomy, engineering, and the spirit, customs and traditions of the Royal Navy. Long hours were spent learning ‘bends and hitches’, splicing heavy wire ropes, learning and hoisting flag signals, using Morse code with flashing lights, and memorising the complex system of navigation lights used internationally. Cadets were taken out on a minesweeper HMS Forres, owned by the college, for a week’s cruising, and there were also sailing races – either at Dittisham Reach up the River Dart, or on the open sea.12


Teaching tended to be unimaginative and learning by rote, the emphasis on how and what, rather than why, and the only school subject that was of real importance was mathematics. For naval officers on the staff it was just another posting – generally two years – and the job was regarded as a penance before returning to sea, more excitement and promotion. The impact on a sensitive and independently minded young boy, who was far from home, had just lost his father and was restricted to one visit per term from his mother, must have been considerable. Burgess learnt to conceal his feelings, to adapt and try to belong to the prevailing orthodoxy, but the discipline was also good for him, giving him structure and imbuing qualities that he would carry through his whole life, such as punctuality, leadership and an ability to work with others.


He was immediately marked out as a high-flyer, his reports describing him as ‘excellent officer material’ and ‘a zealous all-rounder’.13 From the second term he was either second, or more often first in his class, and in the summer of 1926 he won prizes for science, history and geography, which included the three volumes of Sir Julian Corbett’s Naval Operations: History of the Great War. He was an accomplished draughtsman and map-drawer and known as a skilled artist, contributing a drawing of West Meon to The Britannia Magazine shortly after he arrived. He played for his term in both junior rugby and football, eventually gaining a place at right half in the second football XI. A contemporary, Bernard Ward, remembered how ‘he excelled at any activity or lesson’.14


A particular interest was history, and inspiration was Alfred Mahan’s The Influence of Sea Power upon History (1890), and its sequel dealing with the French Revolution and Napoleonic Empire, in which Mahan argued that commercial prosperity and security depended on naval dominance. It was an early introduction to the sort of determinist and materialist interpretation of history that Burgess was to find so attractive in later life. One element of Mahan’s argument – the growth of American power at the expense of the Royal Navy – was to resonate particularly with the schoolboy and be influential in shaping his views of the United States. In his mind, American policy had led directly to the cuts in government spending in the early 1920s, cuts which fell especially hard on the navy, and had curtailed his father’s naval career. 


Nigel Tangye, the cadet captain for the St Vincent term, remembered Burgess as being ‘cast in a different mould to his fellow cadets in that his manner was sophisticated in the same sense that an intelligent fifteen-year-old with the upbringing of an aristocrat is alarmingly at ease in any social situation. He was tall for his age, bright eyed but with a cool, lazy manner and this trait was reflected in his uniform which was faintly sloppy, nothing one could put one’s hand on, but not smart’.15 


Tangye sat beside him at meals and recollected:


I was very glad to have him as one of my meal companions, for his intelligence ensured that although it made him appear more my age group than his own, in the sense of outlook and commentary, his sense of diplomacy ensured his always managing to restrain any familiarity with me, and he had charm. By the end of the term, having had two hundred and fifty-two meals with him sitting next to me, I knew him no better than the first time I met him. He remained an individual in a community from whom he kept an unobtrusive distance, never causing offence by actually being conceited but failing to conceal the fact that intellectually he was their superior’.16


The only blemish on Burgess’s record was his ‘slowness’ in navigation, a sensitive subject given his father’s experience in 1904. Examination by the principal medical officer, and then a specialist, showed the problem was Burgess’s eyesight. Executive officers required perfect eyesight and though Burgess could have continued in the engineering branch, it effectively meant the end of what could have been a promising naval career.


As with much in Burgess’s life, the truth is not always clear and confusion surrounds his departure. Poor eyesight was often a euphemism for dishonesty or homosexuality. There were rumours of theft – traces of the Winslow Boy, subsequently rigorously denied and certainly not in character – and homosexuality being the real reasons. According to a classmate, Robin Tonks, ‘I have heard, but merely hearsay and from a source which I do not regard as entirely reliable, that Burgess was found wanting in some respects as a potential officer and that his withdrawal on the grounds of defective vision was perhaps more diplomatic than medical.’15


His contemporaries, perhaps influenced by his subsequent life, all give slightly different accounts. John Gower thought ‘Burgess was a misfit and his eyes an excuse to return to a life with less pressure’,16 whilst Michael Creagh-Osborne remembered, ‘that in his last term he was in some sort of trouble and looked very sullen and disgruntled. I think he got beaten for it – or the sullenness was because of it. I know I was not surprised to learn he had left.’17


David Tibbits thought he had stolen a fountain pen. In any case, ‘We all looked at him as very tiresome. He was not popular and had no close friends. He was left-wing.’18 Meanwhile Captain St John felt he was ‘different as ex-Eton … he was mostly a LONER. I suspect Guy left Dartmouth as a HOMOSEXUAL … My impression was that Guy was not popular, nor was he any good at games. I have no evidence about his being beaten, but add that I am sure that every member of the term had been beaten more than once. It was a method regular and much used.’19


According to John Carmalt-Jones, ‘Burgess was known to be sexually attractive with boys and that’s possibly why he left. He was not particularly good at games but clever, very artistic and a good cadet. He conformed.’20 Tibbitts agreed: ‘He was a very strange chap. He did not have the same sort of views as us. He was an amusing chap. He wasn’t ordinary at all …’21


It seems strange that the problem of poor eyesight was not discovered at his medical examination, but there is certainly evidence in later life that it was not good. The likelihood is that Burgess was not happy and did not fit in and it was generally felt his academic talents might better be served by a return to Eton. If Burgess wanted to go to Cambridge, he would have needed Latin, which was not taught at Dartmouth.22


Burgess’s departure in July 1927 appears, therefore, to be entirely honourable – not least as Eton was happy to have him back. His Russian controller Yuri Modin later wrote, ‘Personally I never noticed the slightest defect in his vision … he loathed Dartmouth and despite his extreme youth was sufficiently independent and tough-minded to tell his parents that it would be too great an honour for the Royal Navy to receive Guy Burgess into its rank.’23


Dartmouth was simply the wrong school for him. He was cleverer than his contemporaries – his final term had him fourth in order of merit, with further prizes for history and scripture – but unpopular with many of them, and not really cut out for a naval career. Lonely and a loner, he must have been relieved to be returning to Eton.


If Burgess had stayed at Dartmouth, his life would have been very different. He would have become a naval officer rather than go to Cambridge and, if he had survived the Second World War, might well have made the flag rank – the term produced twice as many admirals as normal, even though eight were to be killed in the Second World War – which had eluded his father.
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Eton Again


In the autumn of 1927, Guy Burgess returned to Eton – Nigel had started the previous autumn – after a gap of almost three years. Frank Dobbs was only too happy to have him back and obtained special leave for him to do so from the Provost and Fellows, writing, ‘I am most awfully sorry to hear of the way your career in the navy has been made impossible by your eyesight. I shall be delighted to have you back again.’1 With his intelligence and charm, Burgess’s return to Eton appeared to go well, but this constant changing and abandoning of friendships must have been difficult, and contributed to what would become a growing sense of being an outsider.


He was playing football for his house, running the quarter-mile, and was rowing. He had also joined the Eton College Officer Training Corps, a popular choice though not compulsory, which took place several times a week with drill and field days and an annual camp, usually on Salisbury Plain; Burgess would remain in the ECOTC until his penultimate term, rising to the rank of lance corporal.


At the end of his first term back he took his school certificate – a general exam taken by all pupils aged sixteen and requiring six passes. He was now a history specialist, studying for a history essay question, general paper, divinity, a translation paper – he did both French and Latin – and one on civics or economics.


An important mentor was to be a history teacher, Robert Birley, only eight years older than Burgess, and known as ‘Red Robert’ for his liberal opinions. Birley, an imposing six foot six tall, had arrived straight from a glittering career as a Brackenbury scholar at Balliol a few terms earlier, and was to prove an important influence on Burgess with their shared interest in literature and history. A school contemporary, Nigel Nicolson, remembered how everyone looked forward to his classes. He would say:


Today we are going to talk about one of the most extraordinary events in history – the Sicilian campaign – and would then describe the ships, the armour, the politics, the battle, the danger, the glory, all with such emotion and sense of fun (he adored speaking of war oddly enough) that we felt we were actually in Sicily in 420 BC, rowing in the galleys, slaving in the mines, speaking in the Assembly.2


Birley ran the Essay Society, where each member, who had to be invited to join, read an essay on a subject of their choice over cups of cocoa. Burgess was to give several talks on subjects ranging from Ruskin to Mr Creevey, an eighteenth-century politician best known for the Creevey Papers on the political and social life of the late Georgian era.


Another strong influence was the art master, Eric Powell, a talented watercolourist who had rowed for Cambridge and in the 1908 summer Olympics.3 Burgess had developed into an accomplished artist and received numerous art and drawing prizes throughout his Eton career. He had a keen interest in art and was a regular visitor to art galleries, being especially ‘bowled over’ by Cezanne’s ‘Black Marble Clock’ at the French Exhibition at Burlington House. His own drawings, though, were caricatures in the style of Daumier or the political caricatures of ‘Spy’. David Astor remembered him as forever drawing cartoons of masters and others in authority, and using that as a means of channelling his growing rebelliousness, a view confirmed by Michael Berry, and many of his pictures can be found in Eton’s ephemeral magazines, to which he continued to contribute even after he left Eton.4


Roland Pym, later a painter and book illustrator, who took extra studies in literature and art with Burgess, ‘didn’t like him, but can’t really say why. Bumptious and cocky?’ adding, ‘He would hold forth in front of the whole class. He must have been sensitive because he blushed easily.’5


Burgess continued his intellectual ascent of the school. In Lent 1928 he was first in the Remove and by July 1928 he was ranked twentieth of the First Hundred – boys who were the academic elite of the school.6 He was now a member of the Sixth Form with its special privileges of a butterfly tie and being able to walk on Sixth Form grass, though he claimed he took no pleasure in another perk – attending birchings.7
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Burgess’s illustration in ‘A Mixed Grill’, 4 June 1930


In November 1928 he had an ‘honourable mention’ with the future philosopher A.J. Ayer in the Richards English Essay Prize and in April 1929 he was second in the school’s premier history prize, the Rosebery.8


At Christmas 1928, Robert Birley wrote to Burgess’s housemaster, Frank Dobbs:


At the moment his ideas are running away with him and he is finding in verbal quibbles and Chestertonian comparisons a rather unhealthy delight, but he is such a sane person, and so modest essentially, that I do not feel this very much matters. The great thing is that he really thinks for himself. It is refreshing to find one who is really well read and who can become enthusiastic or have something to say about most things from Vermeer to Meredith. He is also a lively and amusing person, generous, I think, and very good natured … He should do very well.9


After Malcolm’s death, the family had continued to live in West Meon, though they had briefly moved to the Old Barn at Chiddingfold at the beginning of his Eton career. Holidays tended to be spent in Hampshire, though there was some excitement at the beginning of April 1929 when Burgess, his brother, then known as Kingsley, and their mother sailed from Southampton, via Tangier, to escort a relation, a sugar refiner called John Bennett Crispin Burgess, to Indonesia, returning three weeks later with a stop at Colombo.10


It is not clear when Burgess realised he was homosexual or the extent of his sexual experiences at Eton. He later claimed to the Russians that he had become homosexual at Eton, where it was common and even masters were seducing boys, and a later screenplay, Influence, by Goronwy Rees, has him beaten for sexually assaulting a boy. Homosexuality was certainly prevalent – many Old Etonian memoirs for the period discuss it – and it seems unlikely that Burgess, with his good looks, would have gone unnoticed. Burgess later told a boyfriend that a scion of the aristocratic brewing family Guinness was totally infatuated with him. Outside the door of the younger boy’s tiny room in Dobbs’s house, he attached an advertising sign as proof of his devotion. It read: ‘Guinness is Good For You’.11


But the accounts of contemporaries suggest that, if he was homosexual, he was very discreet. Dick Beddington, one of Burgess’s closest friends at Eton, saw no indication of it, but felt he was a very private person who kept his life very compartmentalised. Michael Berry told Andrew Boyle that he thought Burgess had indulged in homosexuality,12 whilst Evan James suggested, ‘He may have done, but if he had been in any way notorious for this I should possibly have heard wind of it.’13


Lord Cawley, who was in his house, said, ‘Burgess always appeared to be an affable character and I never heard any rumour about his homosexuality.’14 Lord Hastings thought ‘he was probably homosexual but so were a great many boys (some twenty per cent in my tutor’s) who indulged in mild sexual practices (never oral for instance), but who subsequently grew up as perfectly normal adults’.15


Memories of him from his contemporaries vary. Many refer to his unpopularity, his sense of inferiority and being a loner, whilst others speak of his kindness and warmth. Diametrically opposing views of Burgess were to be a pattern that was to repeat itself throughout his double life. Lord Hastings wrote, ‘It is difficult to analyse a boy’s character if you are not in the same house, but I gather that Guy was lacking in self-confidence and trying to ingratiate himself with everybody, and that seldom leads to popularity!’16 Michael Legge remembered him as ‘an amusing man, totally unselfconscious and a strong personality’,17 whilst David Philips, another contemporary, thought him ‘a bit of a loner and a bit of a rebel. He was looked on as a bit left-wing and an outsider in his social and political views.’18


William Seymour, a neighbour in West Meon, liked Burgess and remembered a flamboyant figure who flouted his house colours, wrapped his scarf around his desk, and was keenly political.19 Another classmate, Mark Johnson, simply remembered him as ‘being kind and friendly to small boys’.20


Evelyn had taken her husband Malcolm’s death hard and remained a recluse for four years, but in late 1928 she met a retired army officer, John Bassett, and the following July they were married at St Martin-in-the-Fields church in Trafalgar Square. Guy and Nigel Burgess learnt the news of the forthcoming marriage not from their mother, but from their housemaster.21


Her new husband, John Bassett, was seven years older than Eve, and had retired as a lieutenant colonel in his early forties in 1920. The couple shared a love of racing, which extended in Bassett’s case to horse betting. When asked what his new stepfather did, Burgess would reply in a solemn voice, ‘I’m afraid he’s a professional gambler.’ Bassett was, in fact, rather more than that, and he’d had a distinguished military career. Commissioned into the Royal Berkshire Regiment in 1898, he had served in East Africa, the Sudan, where he had governed a province, Abyssinia, and in the Boer War, and later he worked alongside Lawrence of Arabia. For his services in the First World War he had earned a Légion d’Honneur, OBE, and DSO, which rather eclipsed Malcolm’s Order of the Nile 4th Class.


Burgess returned to Eton for his final year in September 1929 and was one of six boys chosen to give speeches on 5 October. He had picked a piece from H.G. Wells’, ‘Mr Polly’s reflections on the plump woman’, to which the Eton College Chronicle commented: ‘he brought out the climax well [but] his enunciation is too much slurred to allow him always to be audible’.22


Burgess had always read widely, but now his reading became increasingly politicised, with Arthur Morrison’s The Hole in the Wall and Tales of Mean Streets and Alexander Paterson’s Across the Bridge, with its exposure of conditions in London’s East End, being particularly influential. Burgess’s own political views were also being shaped by his history teacher Robert Birley’s concern for social justice. A visit by a dockers’ trade union organiser to the school, where he talked about inequalities between rich and poor, only helped to reinforce a growing interest in radical politics.23


He had joined the Political Society, which met on Wednesday evenings in the Vice Provost’s Library, hearing talks from Hilaire Belloc on ‘The Decay of Parliament in Central Europe’, G.K. Chesterton on ‘Democracy’ and Paul Gore-Booth, a Colleger, on ‘Russian Bolshevism’.24 In July 1929 he was elected to the committee, of which his friend Dick Beddington was secretary, though clearly something had happened by May 1930, when it ‘was decided that Mr Burgess should be deposed from the Committee’ and his appeal to be reinstated was rejected, suggesting some sort of disagreement. Burgess was later to claim that the election of the Labour government in 1929 ‘made some impression’ on him and he would argue ‘in favour of socialism with the son of an American millionaire’, Robert Grant.25


He was also active in the newly resurrected debating society, which met on Monday evenings. On 3 October 1929 they met to discuss whether the English public school system was a good idea or not, and on 10 October it was ‘Russia – Country of the Future?’ On 25 October, with police riot squads forced to deal with crowds on Wall Street, he attended a debate on ‘whether radical changes are needed at Eton in view of the rise of Socialism’. It was proposed by David Hedley and Burgess supported the motion, though it was lost with 38 for and 50 against.


According to Dick Beddington, the fair-haired six-foot Hedley was a brilliant student and with Burgess ‘undoubtedly the two most interesting chaps at Eton at the time’.26 Hedley was school captain, a 1st XI footballer, gregarious, amusing, popular, good-looking, Keeper of the Wall, winner of the Newcastle Prize, Editor of Eton College Chronicle, and a rower. He also had supposedly become one of Burgess’s sexual conquests.


By January 1930, Burgess was ranked second after Hedley in the Sixth Form, which comprised the top ten scholars and top ten Oppidans – Oppidans are the non-scholars at Eton – and that month he sat and won a history scholarship to Trinity College, Cambridge, with Hedley winning a scholarship in classics to King’s College, Cambridge.


According to Burgess’s own later account:


when he met the examiners later, they told him that they had never before given an open scholarship to anybody who knew so little as he did. Apparently they decided in his favour largely on the strength of one exceptionally promising paper in which, referring to the French Revolution, he expressed energetic disapproval of Castlereagh.27


Burgess, who so much wanted to belong, had achieved most of Eton’s Glittering Prizes. He had been awarded his house colours, was a highly regarded member of the 1st XI Football and probably the best swimmer in the school. He was also a member of the self-elected Library (the house prefects) in his house, where one blackball excluded, which suggests he wasn’t that unpopular, although as a member of Sixth Form he should have been captain of the house.28


However, one distinction still eluded him – membership of Pop, a self-elected elite of between twenty-four and twenty-eight boys, which conferred special privileges such as wearing coloured waistcoats, carrying umbrellas, and caning other non-Pop boys. Between September 1929 and May 1930, Burgess’s name was put forward unsuccessfully several times, sponsored by, amongst others, David Hedley and Michael Berry. There were good reasons for his failure. His house already had two members of Pop, the president of Pop, Robert Grant, an outstanding racquets player, and Tony Baerlein, who kept wicket for the Eton 1st XI for three years.29 Burgess was clever, but Pop tended to recognise sporting rather than academic achievement, and to prefer aristocrats rather than the sons of naval officers.


It didn’t surprise another Eton contemporary, Peter Calvocoressi: ‘I don’t think it was very strange that he never got into Pop. There were three kinds of Pop members: ex officio, good at games, an exceptionally “good chap”. He was none of those things!’30 As Berry was later to admit, ‘When it came to getting Guy in, I discovered to my surprise how unpopular he was. People just didn’t like him.’31


Pop notwithstanding, Burgess’s final days were ones of glory. He played a prominent role in the school’s 4th June celebrations, graced that year by the presence of the King who presented the Officer Training Corps with new colours. At speeches in the morning, dressed in breeches and black stockings, he read Southwell’s ‘Good Things’, though the Eton College Chronicle noted, ‘Only two of the prose passages suffered from being spoken too low. In the case of Burgess the trouble was, perhaps, rather a failure to enunciate clearly. A catalogue of “good things” is a difficult idea to manage. He expressed well, however, the minor key of his passage.’32 He played Sir Christopher Hatton in Sheridan’s The Critic and several of his cartoons were in The Mixed Grill, a magazine produced for the day. That evening he rowed in Monarch, the senior boat in the Procession of Boats made up of school celebrities, alongside Hedley, McGillycuddy, and Robert Grant.
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Guy Burgess’s cartoon in Eton ephemeral magazine ‘Motley’, 10 July 1931


A month later, his career at Eton came to an end. He had been awarded the Gladstone Memorial Scholarship based on the results of the final exams – £100 and a two-volume set of Morley’s life of Gladstone, signed by a member of the Gladstone family – and the Geoffrey Gunther Memorial Prize for design. His time at the school had been a success. Robert Birley was later to tell Andrew Boyle that Burgess:


had a gift for plunging to the root of any question and his essays were on occasion full of insights. He went through Eton without a blemish. V. gifted and affable, articulate, never in trouble. No hint of any fault or defect in character. Member of the Essay Society and a good one. He had a natural feel for history and did well at Eton.33


Burgess’s feelings about the school were complex. Steven Runciman, an Old Etonian who taught him at Cambridge, later claimed, ‘He enjoyed Eton without liking it. He used to laugh about it,’34 but many of Burgess’s contacts and much of his identity came from being an Old Etonian, and he retained a strong emotional attachment to the school. He would later say that though he disapproved ‘of the educational system of which Eton is a part’, as an Old Etonian, he had ‘an enduring love for Eton as a place, and an admiration for its liberal educational methods’. He continued to wear his OE tie – he proudly boasted of being ‘one of the few Old Etonians to wear an Old Etonian bow-tie throughout his life’ – and often returned to the school to see Dobbs and Birley, attend chapel services and, as he later recollected, ‘spend summer weekends in a punt moored by Luxmoore’s Garden’.35
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Cambridge Undergraduate


After a month visiting relations in Canada with his mother and Nigel, Burgess went up to Trinity College, Cambridge at the beginning of October 1930, and was given rooms in I4 New Court, just off Great Court. Trinity, founded by Henry VIII in 1546, was the grandest – it was said God was a Trinity man – richest and largest of the Cambridge colleges. Burgess was one of only thirteen scholars in his year across all subjects, and at nineteen and a half, he was slightly older than most of his contemporaries. He certainly appeared more sophisticated and glamorous. Cambridge was perfect for him. It allowed him to reinvent himself in certain circles, he relished the intellectual stimulus and the sexual freedom, and with a generous allowance from his mother, he was also richer than many of his contemporaries.


He immediately joined the socially exclusive Pitt Club, a haven for aristocrats and public school men, in Jesus Lane, lunching there each day on a bottle of Liebfraumilch ’21.1 He had come up with a number of Etonians, but according to Michael Vesey, a contemporary at both school and Cambridge, although he ‘tried to get in with the Old Etonians … they weren’t interested … My lot generally regarded him as a conceited unreliable shit.’2 By contrast, Michael Grant, who was reading Classics, described Burgess as ‘popular, especially with those who had been at school with him (as I was not), chiefly because he was good company and amusing’.3


Trinity had several history dons: J.R.M. Butler, who had just published his History of England 1815-1918 and would later become Regius Professor of History, another nineteenth-century specialist, George Kitson Clark, as well as Outram Evennett, an expert on the Counter-Reformation. Finally, there was the Reverend Frederick Simpson, elected a Fellow of Trinity in 1911 and destined to remain one until his death aged ninety in 1974; Simpson was the acclaimed author of two volumes of a proposed four-volume life of Napoleon and was to become particularly close to Burgess.


A tall, dark, stooped, craggy-faced man, he was often to be seen in a cloth cap and a dangling grey scarf. In his younger days he had flown the Channel in his own Gypsy Moth, whilst in later days, as Dean of Chapel, he questioned the divinity of Jesus. Unmarried, he was a frequent observer at the university bathing pool, where undergraduates swam naked.


Steven Runciman, who also taught Burgess, found his pupil, ‘A very clever boy. An interesting mind but rather undisciplined. He was a type that Eton sometimes produces. The Young Revolutionary … In those days he was always good company but a bit grubby. I often had to send him back to clean his fingernails.’4


Burgess’s interests remained historical and literary. At the end of his first term he was elected to the Trinity Historical Society, which was limited to the most promising twenty-five undergraduate and postgraduate members. Burgess would become a regular attendee at the club. Among the other members was Kim Philby, who had come up the year before to read History from Westminster School, where he had been a scholar. Membership of the club would increasingly shape Burgess’s political views.


Elected alongside him was Jim Lees, an ex-miner from Nottingham, who had won a trade union scholarship to Trinity, and who would become a life-long friend and strong radicalising influence. Lees had left school at fourteen and was one of a small group of former coal miners at Cambridge supported by the Miners’ Welfare Fund. Baldish and spectacled, he was a member of the Independent Labour Party. Burgess later admitted that Lees ‘taught him a lot and troubled his conscience’. Lees would tell Burgess despairingly that he would ‘get a First because your energies are not exhausted by life, because of the class-prejudice of the examiners, and because you got here easily and aren’t frightened by it. I shall do ten times as much work as you – and get a good Second.’


Burgess accepted that though Lees knew far more history than he did, that was the likely scenario. ‘He was interested in truth, I in brilliance. I made epigrams: he got the right answers.’5 Lees proved right. Whilst he managed a Second, Burgess in his first-year college exams was awarded a First – the only one of the thirteen Trinity historians in his year to do so.


Gervase Markham, reading English in the year above and secretary of the Trinity Shakespeare Reading Society, which met fortnightly in each other’s rooms to read through a Shakespeare play, later wrote about Burgess:


He was fat, coarse and untidy. The adjectives that come to my mind are ‘epicene’ and ‘apolaustic’: and I have just looked them up in my Shorter Oxford and find that their dictionary meaning fits him aptly.6 I think he rather despised those of us who played traditional games and sports. I cannot connect him with any outdoor physical activity. Rather, I see him in my mind’s eye in an over-comfortably furnished room, that smelt of incense (or was it cannabis?) … I remember a bronze figure of a Buddha, which he induced to make smoke come out of its navel which he thought amusing and I found disgusting. I cannot recall ever discussing politics with him, though it would fit in well with my memory of him if he had been associated with those undergraduates who were sympathising with Communism. But I cannot think of him as having ‘high ideals’ or working for the greater good of humanity. I thought him a selfish lout, caring most for his own rather dubious pleasures.7


Burgess’s lover during his first year was Jack Hunter, an American who was reading English in the year above at Trinity. His father was the Hollywood film director T. Hayes Hunter, though Jack himself always claimed to be the illegitimate son of Douglas Fairbanks.8


The Eton art master, Eric Powell, had told Burgess to give up exercise on leaving Eton, saying, ‘If you go on taking exercise now, you’ll always have to’, advice which the young man took with gratitude, only making an exception for swimming. But he had continued his interest in art, and in May Week 1931 he had a small part and designed the set for Dadie Rylands’ Amateur Dramatic Club modern-dress production of Bernard Shaw’s Captain Brassbound’s Conversion. The production starred Michael Redgrave, then President of ADC, David Hedley and the future broadcaster Arthur Marshall. Redgrave remembered them as: ‘Very good sets, too. Burgess was one of the bright stars of the university scene, with a reputation for being able to turn his hand to anything.’9


It was also that summer that he first met Anthony Blunt, who had graduated with a First from Trinity the previous year and was now a graduate student. They met surprisingly late, given that they mixed in similar circles – either through Michael Redgrave, who had edited an undergraduate magazine The Venture with Blunt, or the King’s don, Dadie Rylands.10


‘On that occasion I did not take to him, because he began immediately to talk very indiscreetly about the private lives of people who were quite unknown to me,’ Blunt recalled:


but as I got to know him better I became fascinated by the liveliness and quality of his mind and the range of his interests. There was no subject in which he did not have something stimulating to say and although his ideas were not always supported with full evidence or carefully thought out reasons, there was always something in them to provoke thought and set one’s own mind working along new lines.11


In many ways Burgess was the antithesis of Blunt – outrageous, loud, talkative, indiscreet, irreverent, overtly rebellious – but they shared many artistic interests. ‘I relied a great deal on discussions with Guy,’ Blunt later recalled. ‘I often visited the exhibitions concerned with him and I have known few people with whom I have more enjoyed looking at pictures or buildings …’12


They were also drawn together by their mutual homosexuality, though it’s unclear if they were ever lovers. Peter Pollock and Jack Hewit, who slept with both Burgess and Blunt, said it was impossible as they both preferred the ‘feminine’ role in lovemaking, but Blunt’s brother Wilfrid told a friend that Anthony had been seduced by Burgess and this was confirmed to Andrew Boyle.13


Burgess, open about his own sexuality, often played the role of pimp and father confessor to his friends, liberating them sexually either by sleeping with them himself or introducing them to partners, and certainly in Blunt’s case he introduced him to the joys of ‘rough trade’. Blunt was charmed by this bright, amusing, liberated young man, who could talk knowledgeably on a range of subjects. Geoffrey Wright, who had become friendly with Blunt through Cambridge’s gay circles, felt that Burgess liberated Blunt and ‘Guy represented all the things that Anthony kept bottled up.’14


Robert Birley, visiting Burgess that summer, was shocked to find a collection of pornography and Marxist tracts on the bookshelves in his rooms. Clearly something had changed with his former pupil.15


After the summer vacation, Burgess returned for his second year to a Cambridge that was increasingly politicised by the world situation. Unemployment had reached nearly three million, there had been a naval mutiny at Invergordon, Britain had been forced off the gold standard, and Ramsay MacDonald had been required to form an all-party coalition National Government. At the same time there was increasing political instability on the Continent, particularly in Germany. Cambridge was not isolated from these developments and its response was reflected in both overt and covert activities. During the summer of 1931, the Cambridge University Socialist Society had been formed by Harry Dawes, another ex-miner, and it became the focal point for left-wing radicalism in the university and was increasingly infiltrated and used by the communists.


An important figure was David Haden Guest, the son of a Labour politician, who had come up to Trinity a year ahead of Burgess, to read Philosophy and Mathematical Logic at the feet of Ludwig Wittgenstein. After only two terms, he had gone to the University of Göttingen, attracted by its advanced teaching of philosophy. There he had seen at first hand the beginnings of Nazi violence, which persuaded him that only communism could stand up to Hitler. On his return to Cambridge, after spending a fortnight in solitary confinement in prison in Germany in 1931 for joining in a communist demonstration, he had very publicly marched into college hall wearing a hammer-and-sickle emblem. Guest, whose sparsely furnished college room was dominated by a portrait of Lenin, became the first secretary of the university branch of the Communist Party, which included two dons, Maurice Dobb and Roy Pascal, together with Jim Lees.16


The son of a prosperous Gloucestershire landowner, Dobb had become interested in Marxism as a schoolboy at Charterhouse and had joined the Communist Party in 1922. He had visited the USSR several times and frequently gave speeches at the Cambridge Union on the achievements of Soviet society. He had a flat in The Lodge in Chesterton Lane; the other two flats in the building were occupied by Roy Pascal and a fellow of St John’s, Hugh Sykes Davies, both Marxists, and The Lodge therefore became known as ‘The Red House’.17


On 2 November, at a meeting in George Kitson Clark’s rooms, Burgess was elected to the committee of the Trinity History Society and heard Dobb, a Fellow of Pembroke, talk about ‘Communism: a Political and Historical Theory’. Burgess had gradually become more interested in Marxist teachings, shaped by discussions with contemporaries such as Lees, who argued that compromise with authority did not work and that the Left had to become more radical. He was also influenced by his reading, most notably of Lenin’s The State and Revolution, lent to him by David Haden Guest. His tutor F.A. Simpson’s two volumes on Napoleon had now been replaced by Karl Marx’s The XVIIIth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte and Class Struggles in France.


Burgess would later claim his interest in communism had ‘an intellectual and theoretical rather than an emotional basis’. As one of the subjects for the History Tripos, he had to study ‘the theory of the Modern State – what the state is – the point at which the general study of history touches real life most closely’ and he found Marxism had something to say to him. On 30 May 1932, that was put to the test when he sat the first part of his History Tripos with papers in General European, English Constitutional and English Economic History. Three weeks later, the Class lists were published. He was one of fifteen Firsts in Part I History across the university.18


A growing friendship had been developing with the Trinity bachelor don Steven Runciman, an Old Etonian eight years older, whose rooms in Nevile’s Court were famous for their French 1820s grisaille wallpaper, depicting Cupid and Psyche, his exquisite bric-à-brac and his ‘green parakeet called Benedict, which he used to spank with a pencil for misdemeanours’.19 The two men had a great deal in common, sharing an interest in history, literature and gossip. Burgess and Runciman met almost every day from the autumn of 1932 through to 1934, and it is almost certain that they became lovers.20


Runciman was concerned about Burgess’s personality problems and his behaviour and would recall how the undergraduate’s friends tried to restrain his drinking. He believed that Burgess lacked self-confidence and that ‘drink gave him the confidence to behave badly’.21 He later claimed that he had saved him from being sent down and in gratitude Burgess had given him two little black-and-gold Regency candlesticks made of ebony and ormolu.22


During the summer holiday of 1932, Runciman invited Burgess to stay on the Scottish island of Eigg, which the Runciman family owned and where Runciman remembered him as ‘a lively and pleasant guest’.23 The group included Burgess’s devout Catholic history tutor Outram Evennett and his wife, with the glamorous Anne Barnes (there without her husband George) and various other undergraduates, most of them homosexual, who spent the holiday reading, sunbathing and exploring the island. Amongst them was Geoffrey Wright, a member of the Cambridge Footlights Club, who didn’t like Burgess:


He was a very dirty man, jolly clever and sharp but he had a harsh tongue … He had a keen eye for the main chance … He certainly wasn’t insecure for a moment and I don’t think he had any difficulties about his homosexuality … Anything that gave him a thrill. He loved being on the edge. He was a curious, fantasy figure24


In October 1932, Burgess returned to Cambridge for his third year to M2, a set of grand rooms in Trinity’s Great Court. He now possessed a college history award, the Earl of Derby Studentship, awarded to the member of the college who had most distinguished himself in the Historical Tripos.


A month later he was elected a member of the Apostles, sponsored by Anthony Blunt, in a meeting in Blunt’s room.25 The Apostles, one of the best-known secret societies in the world, had been founded in 1820 as the Cambridge Conversazione Society, a discussion group which drew in some of the cleverest of Cambridge students, though most members came from only two colleges, King’s and Trinity. It had passed its high point at the beginning of the twentieth century, when members included the philosophers G.E. Moore and Bertrand Russell and mathematician G.H. Hardy, but it was still regarded as a super-intellectual elite, electing only a couple of members each year.


The Apostles, like many such societies, had its own rituals and language, which helped sustain a sense of being special. Potential recruits – called ‘embryos’ – were spotted first by an Apostle and then if considered ‘Apostolic’ were sponsored by a member called his ‘father’. The first meeting for a new member was his ‘birth’, where he would take an oath, and after being elected he would address his fellow Apostles as ‘brother’.


The society met on Saturday evenings in either King’s or Trinity, where members took turns to stand on the hearth rug and deliver a paper on some philosophical question that had been agreed the previous week. Once the speaker, known as ‘moderator’, had finished his essay, other Apostles commented. Following this intellectual prelude, sardines on toast, known as ‘whales’, would be served. The society also held annual dinners in London attended by current Apostles and by ‘Angels’ – members who had ‘taken wings’ and left Cambridge.


Members in this period, many of whom were homosexual, included the Regius Professor of History G.M. Trevelyan; the writer E.M. Forster; the literary critic Desmond McCarthy; Churchill’s private secretary and close friend of Rupert Brooke, Edward Marsh; the economist John Maynard Keynes; and the philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein.


It is perhaps not surprising that Burgess should be elected, as many of his friends, such as Anthony Blunt’s lover, Julian Bell, and the King’s English don, Dadie Rylands, were already members, but it was still a great acknowledgement of his intellectual abilities. Burgess was to be an active undergraduate Apostle, attending most of the weekly meetings, sometimes hosting them and providing supper in his rooms, acting as moderator and eventually, in June 1933, becoming secretary.


The Apostles appealed to his love of ideas and intelligent conversation and also gave him the opportunity to network – a resource which he ruthlessly exploited for the rest of his life. Many writers have suggested that it was the Apostles that politicised Burgess and Blunt, but an examination of its minute books shows that in the early 1930s it was simply a society exploring abstract ideas. It’s certainly true that of the thirty-one Apostles elected between 1927 and 1939, fifteen were communists or Marxists, but most of those were members during the latter half of that period, after Burgess’s time. Indeed, it was not the Apostles that politicised Burgess, but rather the reverse. He and Blunt brought in fellow sympathisers as part of a strategy to infiltrate communists into important university societies. Victor Rothschild was to write despairingly to Keynes: ‘We talk endlessly in the society about communism, which is rather dull.’26


Rothschild had been elected to the society at the same time as Burgess and also with the support of Anthony Blunt. Coming up to Trinity from Harrow in 1929 to read Natural Sciences, he had quickly switched to a pass degree in English, French and Biology, in which he’d taken a triple First. Darkly handsome, highly intelligent, a talented sportsman – he had played cricket for Northamptonshire and Cambridge – and an excellent jazz pianist, as the heir to the Rothschild banking fortune, he was also extremely rich.


He was a glamorous figure who drove a Bugatti, collected paintings, English silver and rare books, and was a generous friend – in 1933 he had ‘lent’ Blunt £100 to buy Poussin’s Rebecca and Eliezer at the Well from Duit’s in Jermyn Street, which Burgess had collected on his behalf – but there were also dark secrets.27 In the autumn of 1931 he had killed a cyclist whilst driving from Cambridge to London and was put on trial for manslaughter. He was defended by St John Hutchinson, whose daughter he would marry shortly afterwards.28


The Apostles created a strong sense of being special and separate, with a different set of allegiances to those who were not members. Apostolic virtues included the importance of sexual and emotional honesty, truth, beauty and friendship, which were placed above conventional sexual morality and orthodoxy. Many of the Apostles were also part of the Bloomsbury Group, a collection of writers, philosophers, economists and artists, who were generally left-wing, atheists, pacifists, lovers of the arts and each other. The group was influenced by the philosopher and Apostle G.E. Moore, who believed that ‘affectionate personal relations and the contemplation of beauty were the only supremely good states of mind’. It is perhaps not surprising that the Apostles should prove to be so open to communist infiltration.


It’s clear from the topics on which Burgess chose to speak that by the spring of 1933 he was interested in Marxism. Whilst topics over the term included, ‘Me or Us?’, ‘Is Art more than a Craft?’ and ‘Is Reality Absolute?’, Burgess’s talk on 28 January was a Marxist analysis, ‘Is the Past a Signpost?’ It is also clear that Marxism was taking root in the university.


On 3 March the ‘Letter from Cambridge’ in the Spectator noted that ‘politics and religion, so recently mere supers in the drama of discussion, have achieved a startling come-back; Dr Buchman and Karl Marx bask in the warm limelight of interest from which so suddenly and so decisively they have elbowed Proust and Picasso … much of the gay froth has gone’.29 Two months later, the same correspondent was struck by how the Socialist Society was moving to the left and communists ‘comprised the intellectual side of undergraduate opinion’.30


Over the course of 1932 the Cambridge University Socialist Society (CUSS) had grown and was now affiliated to the Communist Party of Great Britain (CPGB). It still had only twenty-five members, but was especially strong in Trinity, where its members included Kim Philby, who handled finance and publicity, and a Trinity philosopher, Maurice Cornforth, who acted as secretary of the town branch of the CP, while Haden Guest was secretary for the university.


Another organisation the communists had penetrated was the Trinity Historical Society, where on 8 May Philby, but not Burgess, heard John Strachey on ‘Communism & Fascism: The Historical Alternative’, drawn from his forthcoming book The Menace of Fascism. Victor Kiernan, the year below Burgess, was determined to make the society ‘very much a Marxist debating ground with its emphasis on the economic interpretation of history’ and it, likewise, was to prove as fertile for the communists as the Apostles.31


In his third year Burgess continued to work hard, but there were signs that his political activity was interfering with his academic work. Tom Driberg in Burgess’s authorised life was to write that Burgess ‘in his third year was given another First in Part II of the Tripos, even though illness prevented him from completing his papers. This illness was one that has afflicted him constantly since the age of sixteen: insomnia, sometimes aggravated by severe headaches.’32


The strict truth was Burgess received not a First, but an aegrotat – an ungraded degree awarded to those too ill to take finals but deemed to have deserved honours. It is not clear whether his ‘illness’ was a genuine nervous breakdown, as his friend Goronwy Rees later claimed, or one staged because he had done no work. According to one Trinity contemporary, Michael Grant, ‘Guy thought all you had to do was work fourteen hours before the exam and have a lot of strong coffee. He cracked up on it.’33 Another, Lord Thurlow, claimed that Burgess had taken amphetamines before the exam and then had to be carried out in the middle of it: according to another contemporary it was Benzedrine and that after the Trinity dons retrieved his papers, they found that they were first class.34


Shortly after finishing his exams, at a party given by Eric Duncannon (later Earl of Bessborough), Burgess noticed a good-looking young man wearing a Brooklands tie-clip. Micky Burn was writing a book on the racing track and the two were immediately drawn to one another by a love of cars and mutual admiration for A.E. Housman, becoming lovers that very night. Burn was eighteen months younger than him and had dropped out of Oxford after a year; he remembered how Burgess:


made no secret of being homosexual and a Marxist … He had blue eyes and tight wavy hair, was a good swimmer and looked menacingly healthy. I have seen his looks described as ‘boyish’; he did convey a dash of pertness and sham-innocence, as if he had just run away after ringing some important person’s doorbell … he was in love with Marxism; more precisely with the Marxist interpretation of history … ‘History’ had taken the place of God, (as Bertrand Russell hoped that mathematics would). The Marxist testaments explained all that had ever happened, all that was happening, and all that would happen, and what each person should do to help it all along. Everything was related once one had the key …35


The affair spanned that summer and would continue in a desultory way for several more years. Burn spent several weekends with Burgess in Cambridge, where they spied over a wall on A.E. Housman reading in a deckchair in a college garden and Burn was introduced to F.A. Simpson, whom Burgess conspiratorially informed him had been in love with Rupert Brooke.36 The two young men stayed in Grantchester, drawn there by its association with Brooke, and swam in the Cam, going to lunch with E.M. Forster, where Burn made the faux pas of asking if he agreed that Somerset Maugham was ‘the greatest living English novelist’. Burgess took Burn to meet his mother Eve and one romantic evening they drove to Oxford in Burgess’s MG to see Max Reinhardt’s OUDS production of A Midsummer Night’s Dream in Magdalen deer park.37


That summer Burgess went on holiday with Anthony Blunt, Victor Rothschild, Anne Barnes and Dadie Rylands, Rothschild driving the four of them in his Bugatti to Monte Carlo, where they stayed for the weekend with Somerset Maugham at his Villa Mauresque.38


From the South of France Blunt went on to the British School in Rome, where his school-friend Ellis Waterhouse had recently been appointed librarian, to work on his thesis ‘The History and Theories of Painting in Italy and France from 1400 to 1700’. Burgess joined them there later that summer.


The holiday was most notable for Burgess’s politicising of Blunt. The three men visited museums, bars and went for long walks around the city, and Waterhouse noticed that Burgess seemed to have gained an ascendancy over Blunt, using arguments about the importance of the state in supporting the arts to shape Blunt’s Marxism. The Young Marxists were about to extend their reach and consolidate their influence.39
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Drawing perhaps inspired by Somerset Maugham’s short story ‘Rain’




5


Cambridge Postgraduate


In spite of his aegrotat, Burgess returned to Trinity in the autumn of 1933 as a research student, preparing a thesis on the intellectual background of the Puritan Revolution, and doing a little supervising, at which he seems to have been rather good. One of his pupils, Lord Talbot de Malahide, Milo Talbot, later testified that it was only Burgess’s teaching that had lifted him from a 2:2 in Economics to a First in History and had enabled him to pass the Foreign Office exam.1


External events had created increasing politicisation within the university, but it was the arrival in Trinity of two new young men that transformed the student communist movement: John Cornford, as an orator, and James Klugman, as organiser. This also coincided with a change of tactic of the Communist Party to recruit amongst the intelligentsia and especially students rather than workers.
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